

NORTHWEST PORTLAND AREA INDIAN HEALTH BOARD

GARRETT LEE SMITH SUICIDE PREVENTION HEALING OF THE CANOE SURVEY RESULTS

DETAILED AGGREGATE REPORT 2018-2019





Informing Policy and Improving Programs to Enrich People's Lives



TABLE OF CONTENTS

BACKGROUND	1
THRIVE	1
Healing of the Canoe	2
METHODS	4
Protective Factor Scale Creation	5
Children's Hope Scale	5
Connection to Cultural Identity	6
Family	6
Community	6
School	6
Resilience	6
Additional Survey Content	6
RESULTS	7
Pre-Survey to Post-Survey	7
Mental Health and Suicide Ideation	7
Protective Factors (Scales)	7
Health	10
Seeking Help	12
Risk Factors - Substance Use	14
Risk Factors - Harassment	15
Characteristics of Youth with Mental health and Suicide Ideation	16
Community-Based Versus School-based HOC Curriculum Implementation	22
SUMMARY OF RESULTS	27
REFERENCES	29



LIST OF TABLES

Table 1. Respondent Demographic Profiles 5
Table 2. Average Scale Scores at Pre-Survey and Post-Survey
Table 3. Average Scale Scores at Pre-Survey by Gender and Age
Table 4. Differences between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey Measures by Gender and Age 10
Table 5. Health at Pre-Survey and Post-Survey 11
Table 6. Physical and Mental Health at Pre-Survey and Post-Survey
Table 7. Change in Health Items between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey by Gender andAge12
Table 8. Help Seeking Behavior at Pre-Survey and Post-Survey
Table 9. Change in Help Seeking at Pre-Survey by Gender and Age
Table 10. Substance Use at Pre-Survey and Post-Survey 15
Table 11. Reported Harassment at Pre-Survey and Post-Survey 16
Table 12. Demographic Characteristics of Youth with Mental Health Issues (Pre-Survey) 17
Table 13. Average Scale Scores at Pre-Survey by Mental Health Issues
Table 14. Average Scale Score Differences from Pre- to Post-Survey by Mental Health Issues 18
Table 15. Health Measures at Pre-Survey by Mental Health Issues
Table 16. Average Health Differences from Pre- to Post-Survey by Mental Health Issues 19
Table 17. Substance Use at Pre-Survey by Mental Health Issues
Table 18. Reported Harassment at Pre-Survey by Mental Health Issues
Table 19. Other Risk Factors at Pre-Survey by Mental Health Issues
Table 20. Changes in Help Seeking from Pre- to Post-Survey by Mental Health Issues
Table 21. Demographic Characteristics of Youth by Program Model 22
Table 22. Average Scale Scores at Pre-Survey by Program Model
Table 23. Average Scale Score Differences from Pre- to Post-Survey by Program Model 23
Table 24. Average Help Seeking Scores at Pre-Survey by Program Model 24
Table 25. Changes in Help Seeking from Pre- to Post-Survey by Program Model

* Please note that the cover photo is used with the generous permission of the Confederated Tribes of the Coos, Lower Umpqua, and Siuslaw Indians.



BACKGROUND

THRIVE

The Northwest Portland Area Indian Health Board's THRIVE (Tribal Health: Reaching out InVolves Everyone) project has worked with the NW tribal communities to prevent suicide since 2009. In 2008, and again in 2013, the project administered a regional Community Readiness Assessment survey to better understand the capacity of the NW tribes to prevent suicide. Using community-based participatory research methods (CBPR), a strategic plan was developed. The 2013 assessment identified several gaps in available services in the NW tribal communities, including lack of sustainable funding, lack of suicide prevention staff, poor access to confidential mental health (MH) services, insufficient access to culturally appropriate interventions, lack of crisis response protocols, and lack of communication between tribal departments about prevention services and programs. Despite the compelling need, American Indian/Alaska Native (AI/AN) youth in the Pacific Northwest do not receive sufficient suicide prevention, screening, treatment, or care. However, NW tribes are committed to working together to fill these gaps and prevent suicide.

In fall 2014, THRIVE was awarded a Garrett Lee Smith Youth Suicide Prevention grant. This 5year grant, awarded by the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration (SAMHSA), provides THRIVE with funds for suicide prevention training and technical assistance to the 43 federally recognized tribes in Oregon, Washington, and Idaho (NW). In collaboration with the NW tribes, as well as other regional partners, the project is building regional suicide prevention capacity and preventing suicide among AI/AN youth 10-24 years old. THRIVE activities are working to increase the availability and use of culturally appropriate services, resources, and messages that meet the unique needs of AI/AN youth, their families, and communities.

The THRIVE multilevel approach includes activities focused on:

- Physical Environment & Public Policy e.g., establishing crisis response plans, reducing access to firearms and lethal means
- Structural & Organizational Systems e.g., improving clinical practice related to suicide and alcohol and drug (A&D) screening, treatment, and referral; increasing availability of wraparound services
- Community Norms & Interactions e.g., changing social norms surrounding use of mental health services (reduce stigma, improve social acceptability)
- Family Norms & Interactions e.g., helping parents/families identify signs of suicide ideation or intent; facilitating parent/family referral to mental health services



• Individual Knowledge, Attitudes, & Behaviors – e.g., improving perceptions of self-worth, self-efficacy, and connections to family/school/tribe; decreasing bullying, alcohol and drug use, and other risky behaviors

For complex topics such as suicide, multilevel public health approaches offer the best opportunity to achieve sustained behavior change over time.

Healing of the Canoe

The *Healing of the Canoe* (HOC) curriculum is an evidence-based, strength-based life skills curriculum for youth that uses culture to prevent substance abuse and connect youth to community and culture (see <u>healingofthecanoe.org</u>). The curriculum was developed in partnership between the Suquamish Tribe, faculty and staff at the University of Washington's Alcohol and Drug Abuse Institute (ADAI), and the National Institutes of Health's National Institute on Minority Health and Health Disparities. The Northwest Portland Area Indian Health Board (NPAIHB) utilized funds from its Garrett Lee Smith Youth Suicide Prevention grant to partner with the ADAI to develop two additional lessons on suicidal thoughts and behaviors. After these new lessons were developed, NPAIHB sponsored an HOC training for northwest tribes and tribal organization staff. The NPAIHB provided funding to tribes to implement HOC. This report provides a data summary for three HOC sites.

The Healing of the Canoe Evaluation

The *Healing of the Canoe* (HOC) Pre- and Post-Surveys are paper-and-pencil surveys designed to measure the impact of the *Healing of the Canoe* curriculum. The surveys were developed collaboratively by the NPAIHB, ADAI, NPC Research, Suquamish Tribe, and Port Gamble S'Klallam Tribe. The surveys draw from questions used by ADAI in its evaluation of the HOC curriculum, the Youth Risk Behavior Survey, the Oregon Native Youth Survey (Mackin, Perkins, Tarte, & Dent, 2010), and the Healthy & Empowered Youth (*H.E.Y.*) Project survey created by Oregon Health and Science University to evaluate the Native STAND curriculum (which addresses sexually transmitted infections, HIV, and teen pregnancy, as well as drug and alcohol use and dating violence). The surveys were designed to correspond with the social-ecological model, and ask about peers, family, school, and community.

In 2017-2018, a resilience scale (Liebenberg, Ungar, & LeBlanc, 2013) and Adverse Childhood Experience questions were added.¹ Additional questions were developed by NPAIHB and NPC Research. We thank our friends at American Indian Health & Family Services (Detroit, Michigan) for sharing some open-ended question ideas inspired by youth at their site to create a positive feeling after some of the more sensitive topics.

<u>http://www.ncjfcj.org/sites/default/files/Finding%20Your%20ACE%20Score.pdf</u>. Adaptations were made to make the questions more age appropriate to the HOC youth.



¹ The National Council of Juvenile and Family Court Judges website:

This report provides the Pre- and Post-Survey results for youth who received the HOC curriculum in spring and summer 2018 and 2019.

We want to extend a hearty thank you to the Confederated Tribes of the Coos, Lower Umpqua, and Siuslaw Indians, who graciously agreed to let us use the cover photo.



METHODS

A survey was administered to youth receiving the Healing of the Canoe (HOC) curriculum to assess the risk and protective factors associated with suicide ideation and the impact of the program. Youth in three tribal communities filled out the survey at two time points: immediately before the implementation of the HOC program and again immediately after the last HOC session. The goal was to assess any changes in risk and protective factors that may be attributable to the program. The Pre-Survey administration sample consisted of 57 youth, while 54 Post-Surveys were collected. A total of 63 unique youths responded to at least one administration of the survey.² However, this report focuses exclusively on the 48 American Indian or Alaskan Native (AI/AN)³ youth who provided both a Pre- and a Post-Survey.

Of the three HOC implementation sites, two provided a short-term intensive program that spanned less than 1 month, while the third provided a longer-term implementation over one semester and was taught in a tribal school setting. An Intensive Post-Survey was developed for the shorter-term intensive programs that excluded some items, such as the 30-day substance use questions and other similar questions that cannot be expected to change much in a shorter HOC implementation. Summary data tables are shown in Appendix A, while the survey instruments are found in Appendix B.

Respondents ranged in age from 11 to 18 years; the average was 13.4 years of age. Table 1 displays the demographic profile of respondents who completed both a Pre-Survey and a Post-Survey (n = 48). All respondents who answered the question about race/ethnicity identified as Al/AN. There were slightly more female than male respondents (50% female, 44% male). Demographic questions were asked on both the Pre-and Post-Surveys in 2018-2019.⁴

"[In HOC] I learned how to deal with someone if they are feeling depressed."

~ HOC Participant

⁴ In some cases, youth did not answer a demographic question on the Pre-Survey but did answer it on the Post-Survey; in this situation, any answer given on the Pre- or the Post-Survey was used to generate the final demographic items used in the analysis.



² Some youth completed the Post-Survey survey who did not complete the Pre-Survey and some completed a Pre-Survey but not a Post-Survey.

³ In one of the HDI communities, there were 22 youth who did not identify as AI/AN. The HOC facilitator said that a large proportion of them had AI/AN heritage, but their families often (likely due to historical trauma) did not acknowledge this. We chose to exclude them for this paper, but plan to include them in the future when the sample is larger.

	Number of Youth	Percentage of Youth
Race⁵		
American Indian/Alaska Native	47	98%
Not American Indian/Alaska Native	0	0%
Missing	1	2%
Sex		
Male	21	44%
Female	24	50%
Other	2	4%
Missing	1	2%
Age		
11-13 years old	26	54%
14-18 years old	21	44%
Missing	1	2%

Table 1. Respondent Demographic Profiles

The survey consisted primarily of Likert-type items intended to gauge respondents' suicide ideation and to measure risk and protective factors (Appendix B contains the surveys). Scales were created from the average scores across individual items that were intended to measure the same domain. The same scales are found on the Pre-Surveys for all youth and the Post-Surveys for the longer-term HOC implementation. The shorter-term implementation Post-Survey includes the scales with a "*" next to the name. A description of the scales produced for the analyses (with their names in blue bolded headings) is found in the next section.

PROTECTIVE FACTOR SCALE CREATION

Children's Hope Scale*⁶

Six items were included in the survey to assess the respondent's situational awareness and positivity. Example items include *I* can think of many ways to get the things in life that are most important to me and *I* am doing just as well as other kids my age. Response options ranged from "none of the time" to "all of the time," and scores for this domain ranged from 1 - 6 with higher scores indicating greater optimism.

⁶ The Children's Hope Scale (Snyder et al., 1997) was also used in the original evaluation of the Healing of the Canoe evaluation (Donovan et al., 2015).



⁵ For this report, all youth who identified as American Indian or Alaska Native (AI/AN) or AI/AN in combination with other race/ethnicities on the Post-Survey demographic section were coded as AI/AN. The non-AI/AN youth are all those who did not check "AI/AN" as part of their "all that apply" response.

Connection to Cultural Identity*

Youth were asked four questions to assess the strength of their cultural identity. Items in this scale include *Spiritual beliefs are a source of strength for me*. Response options ranged from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree," and scores ranged from 1 - 4 with higher scores indicating greater connection to their cultural heritage.

Family

Five items assessed the respondent's familial bond. Example items include *My parents or* guardians notice when I am doing a good job and let me know about it and I enjoy spending time with my family. Response options ranged from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree," and scores ranged from 1 - 4 with higher scores indicating a youth's greater sense of connection to their family.

Community*

Two items assessed youth perceptions of their community environment. Items include *There is* an *Elder in my community that I hang out with and go to for advice* and *I feel safe in my community*. Response options ranged from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree," and scores in this domain ranged from 1 - 4 with higher scores indicating greater connectedness with the community.

School

Three questions were asked to assess school culture. Example items include *My teacher notices* when I am doing a good job and lets me know about it and I enjoy being at school. Response options ranged from "strongly disagree" to "strongly agree," and scores ranged from 1 - 4 with higher scores indicating greater school bonding.

Resilience*

This scale, known as the Cross-Cultural Youth Resilience Measure 12 Item scale (CYRM-12), consists of 12 items that assess youth's resilience (Liebenberg, Ungar, & LeBlanc, 2013). The CYRM-12 was developed for use across different cultures and now has been used with youth around the world. Items include *I try to finish what I start* and *I know where to go in my community to get help*. Response options ranged from "not at all" to "a lot," and scores ranged from 1 - 12, with higher scores indicating greater resilience.

ADDITIONAL SURVEY CONTENT

Additional items on the survey include self-reported drug use, incidences of harassment, frequencies of bullying, feeling depressed, and general questions regarding the respondent's health, including sleep and exercise.



RESULTS

PRE-SURVEY TO POST-SURVEY

Mental Health and Suicide Ideation

For many analyses, the outcome of interest was whether the respondent had contemplated or attempted suicide within the past month. Overall, there were few youth who had contemplated suicide (10%, n = 6) and even fewer who had attempted suicide (2%, n = 1). Given the low percentage of respondents who had contemplated or attempted suicide, mental health was also examined. Specifically, one question asked youth how good their mental health was in general, with response options ranging from "poor" to "excellent." Nearly 30% (n = 18) of youth responded that their mental health was either "poor" or "fair." Scores on risk and protective factors were compared across two groups—youth who had contemplated suicide within the past month or rated their mental health as "poor" or "fair" and youth who had not contemplated suicide and rated their mental health as "good" or "excellent."

Protective Factors (Scales)

Table 2 displays the average (mean) scale scores for respondents on the Pre-Survey and Post-Surveys. Generally, youth at Pre-Survey reported positive scores on scales measuring potential protective factors, with scores averaging on the higher end of the scale range. Most scales had an average score of 3.0 or greater, indicating that youth generally agreed that they felt safe in their families and communities, as well as typically exhibiting positivity and resiliency. The scale measuring how safe youth felt in their schools had an average of 2.9 during the Pre-Survey administration. *Shaded measures* indicate that these items were not included on the Intensive Post-Survey (see Appendix B).

Scores at Post-Survey generally remained stable. The Children's Hope, Community, and Resilience scales had a slight increase in the average score between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey while the Family scale had a slight decrease in the average score between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey. None of the differences between average Pre-Survey and Post-Survey scores were significant.⁷

⁷ The distributions of the scales were examined, and they all were normal - or did not deviate from normality enough to be concerned. Nonparametric equivalents (i.e., Wilcoxon test) would not have different interpretations since the nonparametric approaches generally have less power. We ran the Wilcoxon test and it agreed with the t-test results; therefore, we have used the t-test results throughout this paper.



		Pre-S	urvey	Post-S	Survey
	Range	N	Mean	N	Mean
Children's Hope Scale	1-6	48	4.1	48	4.2
Cultural Connection	1-4	47	3.3	48	3.3
Family	1-4	48	3.3	30	3.2
Community	1-4	48	2.9	48	3.1
School	1-4	48	2.9	29	2.9
Resilience	1-5	47	3.9	47	4.0

Table 2. Average Scale Scores at Pre-Survey and Post-Survey*

*Shaded measures indicate that these items were not included on the Intensive Post-Survey.

Scale scores at Pre-Survey were compared across demographic characteristics to determine if there were differences in protective factors by gender and age. Overall, there were few differences between males and females in terms of their Pre-Survey scores (Table 3), though males had a slightly higher average on the Children's Hope Scale than females. None of the differences between genders were statistically significant.

Age of youth was compared across the scale scores. Youth aged 11-13 years old were compared to youth aged 14-18 years old. Youth who were 11-13 years of age and youth who were 14-18 years of age scored similarly across all the scales, though older youth aged 14-18 years old had a slightly higher average on the Children's Hope Scale. None of the differences between age groups were significant for any of the scales.



Gender	Fei	Female Male		lale
	Ν	Mean	Ν	Mean
Children's Hope Scale	24	4.0	21	4.4
Cultural Connection	24	3.3	20	3.4
Family	24	3.3	21	3.3
Community	24	3.0	21	2.8
School	24	3.0	21	2.9
Resilience	24	3.9	20	4.0
Age	11-13 y	years old	14-18	years old
Age	11-13 y N	years old Mean	14-18 y N	years old Mean
Age Children's Hope Scale	11-13 N 26	years old Mean 3.9	14-18 y N 21	years old Mean 4.4
Age Children's Hope Scale Cultural Connection	11-13 y N 26 26	years old Mean 3.9 3.3	14-18 v N 21 20	years old Mean 4.4 3.4
Age Children's Hope Scale Cultural Connection Family	11-13 N 26 26 26 26	years old Mean 3.9 3.3 3.3	14-18 N 21 20 21	years old Mean 4.4 3.4 3.3
Age Children's Hope Scale Cultural Connection Family Community	11-13 y N 26 26 26 26 26 26 26 26	years old Mean 3.9 3.3 3.3 2.8	14-18 N 21 20 21 20 21	years old Mean 4.4 3.4 3.3 3.0
Age Children's Hope Scale Cultural Connection Family Community School	11-13 y N 26	years old Mean 3.9 3.3 3.3 2.8 2.8	14-18 N 21 20 21 20 21 21 21 21	years old Mean 4.4 3.4 3.3 3.0 3.0 3.0

Table 3. Average Scale Scores at Pre-Survey by Gender and Age

Table 4 displays the change scores on the computed scales between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey for youth who completed both surveys. Positive scores indicate that the scores on these protective factors increased between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey while negative scores indicate that there was a decrease on these scales between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey. Overall, there was little growth found on the protective scale scores. Males had a slight decrease in *Family* between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey, females showed a slight increase during the same period. However, none of the change scores were significantly different between genders.

When looking at differences between age groups, there were a few differences. Older youth aged 14-18 years of age had slight increases in the *Resilience* scale and slight decreases in the *Family* scale, whereas youth aged 11-13 years of age remained stable. None of the differences in scale scores were significantly different between the two age groups.



Gender	Female		Ma	le
	N	Mean	N	Mean
Children's Hope Scale	24	0.1	21	0.3
Cultural Connection	24	0.0	20	0.0
Family	15	0.1	13	-0.2
Community	24	0.0	21	0.3
School	15	-0.1	12	0.2
Resilience	24	0.0	19	0.5
	11-13 years old			
Age	11-13 y	ears old	14-18 ye	ears old
Age	11-13 չ N	years old Mean	14-18 ye N	ears old Mean
Age Children's Hope Scale	11-13 y N 26	vears old Mean 0.1	14-18 ye N 21	ears old Mean 0.1
Age Children's Hope Scale Cultural Connection	11-13 y N 26 26	vears old Mean 0.1 -0.1	14-18 ye N 21 20	ears old Mean 0.1 0.0
Age Children's Hope Scale Cultural Connection Family	11-13 y N 26 26 16	vears old Mean 0.1 -0.1 0.0	14-18 ye N 21 20 13	ears old Mean 0.1 0.0 -0.1
Age Children's Hope Scale Cultural Connection Family Community	11-13 y N 26 26 16 26	vears old Mean 0.1 -0.1 0.0 0.1	14-18 ye N 21 20 13 21	ears old Mean 0.1 0.0 -0.1 0.1
Age Children's Hope Scale Cultural Connection Family Community School	11-13 y N 26 26 16 26 16 16 16 16	vears old Mean 0.1 -0.1 0.0 0.1 0.0	14-18 ye N 21 20 13 21 12	ears old Mean 0.1 0.0 -0.1 0.1 0.0

Table 4. Differences between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey Measures by Gender and Age*

*Shaded measures indicate that these items were not included on the Intensive Post-Survey.

Health

Youth were asked a series of questions regarding their physical health. These questions included the average amount of sleep they received on a nightly basis as well as how many days they had breakfast or exercised during the past week. Exercise was defined as having at least an hour of physical activity each day. On average, youth reported having an average of around 7 hours of sleep every night.⁸ Additionally, youth reported exercising an average of just over 4 days every week and eating breakfast just under 5 days per week. These scores are displayed in Table 5. There was very little change on the average of these measures between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey. Again, two out of the three HOC implementation sites asked these questions on the Post-Survey.

⁸ Teens should get over 9 hours sleep <u>http://www.nationwidechildrens.org/sleep-in-adolescents</u>. On the Pre-Survey, 14% of youth reported getting 9 or more hours of sleep. Of the 32 Post-Survey (school-based) respondents, 16% reported getting 9 or more hours of sleep.



	N	Pre-Survey	N	Post-Survey
Sleep (average hours per night)	30	7.3	30	7.5
Breakfast (number of days in past week)	48	4.5	48	4.8
Exercise (number of days in past week)	30	4.3	30	4.2

	Table 5.	Health	at Pre-Su	rvey and	Post-Survey*
--	----------	--------	-----------	----------	--------------

*Shaded measures indicate that these items were not included on the Intensive Post-Survey.

Youth were also asked to rate their general physical and mental health on a 4-point scale, with higher scores indicating greater physical and mental health. Table 6 displays the average health ratings provided by youth at Pre-Survey and Post-Survey. With regard to physical health, the average rating was 3.0 at Pre-Survey and 2.8 at Post-Survey. This finding suggests that youth generally reported *good* health at both time points. When looking at mental health, youth had an average rating of 2.8 on the Pre-Survey and an average rating of 2.9 on the Post-Survey, which corresponds to having good mental health. None of the differences between physical health and mental health were significantly different between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey.

Table 6. Physical and Mental Health at Pre-Survey and Post-Survey

	Pre-Survey (<i>n</i> = 48)	Post-Survey (<i>n</i> = 48)
Physical Health	3.0	2.8
Mental Health	2.8	2.9

Table 7 shows the change in health ratings between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey separated by the gender and age of the respondent. Positive values indicate an increase in health ratings on the Post-Survey from scores on the Pre-Survey. Females increased in the average number of days exercising while males decreased, and females increased in the number of days they ate breakfast, while males remained stable. However, the difference between females and males was not statistically significant, likely due to small sample sizes. Younger children aged 11-13 years old had greater increases in the average number of days eating breakfast and in the average number of days exercising than older children aged 14-18 years old. Conversely, older youth increased slightly in average overall mental health while younger youth remained stable between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey administration. Younger children also had a decrease in the number of days exercising. However, none of the differences between age groups were significant.



	•			-	
Gender	Female		Female N		ale
	N	Mean	N	Mean	
Sleep (average hours per night)	15	0.2	13	0.2	
Breakfast (number of days in past week)	24	0.6	21	0.0	
Exercise (number of days in past week)	15	0.7	13	-0.4	
Physical Health	23	-0.2	21	-0.2	
Mental Health	24	0.1	20	0.1	
Age	11-13 y	ears old	14-18 y	ears old	
Age	11-13 y N	ears old Mean	14-18 y N	ears old Mean	
Age Sleep (average hours per night)	11-13 y N 16	ears old Mean 0.3	14-18 y N 13	vears old Mean 0.3	
Age Sleep (average hours per night) Breakfast (number of days in past week)	11-13 y N 16 26	ears old Mean 0.3 0.4	14-18 y N 13 21	vears old Mean 0.3 0.0	
Age Sleep (average hours per night) Breakfast (number of days in past week) Exercise (number of days in past week)	11-13 y N 16 26 16	ears old Mean 0.3 0.4 0.4	14-18 y N 13 21 13	vears old Mean 0.3 0.0 0.1	
Age Sleep (average hours per night) Breakfast (number of days in past week) Exercise (number of days in past week) Physical Health	11-13 y N 16 26 16 25	ears old Mean 0.3 0.4 0.4 -0.3	14-18 y N 13 21 13 21	rears old Mean 0.3 0.0 0.1 0.0	
AgeSleep (average hours per night)Breakfast (number of days in past week)Exercise (number of days in past week)Physical HealthMental Health	11-13 y N 16 26 16 25	ears old Mean 0.3 0.4 0.4 -0.3 0.0	14-18 y N 13 21 13 21 21 21	rears old Mean 0.3 0.0 0.1 0.0 0.1	

Table 7. Change in Health Items between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey by Gender and Age*

*Shaded measures indicate that these items were not included on the Intensive Post-Survey.

Seeking Help

Youth were asked questions about whether they would seek help if they or a friend were feeling depressed or suicidal. Three questions on the survey asked how likely they would be to seek help if they were depressed or how confident they were that they would seek help for a friend who was feeling depressed. These questions were asked on a four-point scale with "1" indicating that youth were not likely to or did not feel confident seeking help and "4" indicating that youth were likely to or felt confident seeking help.

Table 8 displays the average (mean) scores for these three questions on the Pre-Survey and Post-Survey. On both the Pre-Survey and the Post-Survey, average scores for all three questions were 3.0 or greater, indicating that youth felt confident or were likely to seek help for themselves if they were depressed or suicidal or for friends and family members who were depressed or suicidal. Scores for all three questions remained relatively stable between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey administrations.



	Pre-Survey (<i>n</i> = 48)	Post-Survey (n = 48)
Do you feel confident that that you could help a friend or family member who is thinking about suicide?	3.4	3.2
How likely would you be to seek help if you were feeling depressed or suicidal?	3.0	3.0
How likely would you be to seek help for a friend who you thought might be depressed or suicidal?	3.3	3.3

Table 8. Help Seeking Behavior at Pre-Survey and Post-Survey

Table 9 displays changes in help seeking attitudes between the Pre-Survey and Post-Survey administrations between gender and age categories. Females, on average, showed a decrease from Pre-Survey to Post-Survey when asked how confident they were that they could help a friend or family member who was thinking about suicide and how likely they were to seek help if they were depressed or suicidal. Male youth showed a modest increase on these two questions between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey. When youth were asked how likely they would be to seek help for a friend who was depressed or suicidal, females showed a slight increase from Pre-Survey to Post-Survey while male youth remained steady. The largest difference by gender was that females were less likely, and males were more likely from Pre-Survey to Post-Survey to Post-Survey to seek help if <u>they</u> were depressed or suicidal. However, none of the differences between gender groups were statistically significant.

Changes on these questions between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey were also compared between age groups. Older youth increased in how confident they were that they could help a friend or family member who was thinking about suicide, while younger youth showed a decrease during the same time interval. This difference was statistically significant.⁹ Younger youth made modest increases from Pre-Survey to Post-Survey when asked how likely they were to seek help for themselves or for a friend or family member experiencing depression. Older youth decreased or showed no change on these questions in the same time period. The differences between younger and older youth on these two questions were not significant.



				•
Gender	Fer	nale	M	ale
	N	Mean	N	Mean
Do you feel confident that that you could help a friend or family member who is thinking about suicide?	23	-0.4	19	0.1
How likely would you be to seek help if you were feeling depressed or suicidal?	24	-0.2	19	0.4
How likely would you be to seek help for a friend who you thought might be depressed or suicidal?	24	0.2	20	0.0
Age	11-13 y	ears old	14-18 y	ears old
Age	11-13 y N	vears old Mean	14-18 y N	ears old Mean
Age Do you feel confident that that you could help a friend or family member who is thinking about suicide?	11-13 y N 24	vears old Mean -0.4	14-18 y N 20	ears old Mean 0.2
Age Do you feel confident that that you could help a friend or family member who is thinking about suicide? How likely would you be to seek help if you were feeling depressed or suicidal?	11-13 y N 24 26	vears old Mean -0.4 0.1	14-18 y N 20 19	ears old Mean 0.2 -0.1

Table 9. Change in Help Seeking Between Pre- and Post-Survey by Gender and Age

Risk Factors - Substance Use

The survey asked youth questions about alcohol, tobacco, and other illicit substance use within the past 30 days. Table 10 displays the percentage of youth who responded that they took any of the substances in the previous 30 days. Overall, reported illicit substance use was low among survey respondents. This result is in striking contrast to Donovan et al. (2015), who found that over half of the HOC participants in that study had previously smoked cigarettes and two thirds had consumed alcohol and/or used marijuana.¹⁰ It is possible that youth in the current sample are under-reporting their use due to the method of survey administration, or that the rates of use are lower because the youth in the current sample are younger (over half are younger than high school aged, while the samples in the Donovan et al., 2015, study were all in high school).

The most common substances used in the previous 30 days in the current study were alcohol, cigarettes, and prescription drugs. There was little change in the percentage of youth who took illicit substances between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey, although 4% of respondents reported

¹⁰ The original HOC evaluation involved trained tribal staff conducting the surveys one-on-one with youth. In the NPAIHB implementation, the surveys were implemented in a group setting by NPC staff or trained tribal staff.



using non-prescription drugs at Pre-Survey and no respondent reported using non-prescription drugs at Post-Survey. The percentage of youth who reported using prescription drugs or other illegal drugs increased from Pre-Survey to Post-Survey. Although Pre- and Post-Survey results are included in Table 10, it is important to note that one of the community-based sites did not have the questions about substance use on the Intensive Post-Survey, so the results are for the two other sites.

	Pre-Survey (<i>n</i> = 48)	Post-Survey (<i>n</i> = 30)
Cigarettes	4%	3% ¹¹
Alcohol	6%	7%
Marijuana	4%	3 % ¹²
Non-prescription Drugs	4%	0%
Other Illegal Drugs (e.g., cocaine, meth, inhalants, psychedelics)	0%	3%
Prescription Drugs (e.g., Vicodin, OxyContin, Xanax, Valium, Ritalin, Ambien)	8%	10%

Table 10. Substance Use at Pre-Survey and Post-Survey

Risk Factors - Harassment

The survey asked youth if they have been harassed at school or anywhere else within the past year. Table 11 displays the percentage of youth who responded that they had been harassed during the previous year. Half (48%) of the youth reported they had not been harassed in the previous year at Pre-Survey, but that decreased to one-third of youth at Post-Survey who reported not having been harassed in the previous year. Although Pre- and Post-Survey results are included in Table 11, it is important to note that one of the community-based

"[HOC] helped me learn patience. It also brought me closer to people and gave me new friends."

~ HOC Participant

¹² One of the two youth at Pre- who used marijuana continued to use at Post- and the other was not asked this question.



¹¹ One of the two youth at Pre- who used cigarettes did not use at Post- and the other was in the group which was not asked this question. This youth at Post- who used did not reporting using at Pre-.

implementation sites did not have the question about harassment on the Intensive Post-Survey, so the results are only for the two sites that implemented the full Post-Survey. Therefore, the Pre- and Post-Survey results for harassment should not be compared. However, when youth did report that they had been harassed during the previous year, the most common reason for harassment was based on their group of friends or for their physical characteristics, including their weight, clothes, or acne.

	Pre-Survey (<i>n</i> = 48)	Post-Survey (<i>n</i> = 30)	
Race	19%	7%	
Sexual Comment	15%	13%	
Sexual Orientation	19%	17%	
Physical Characteristics	29%	20%	
Group of friends	17%	23%	
Other	2%	3%	
Not been harassed	48%	57%	
<i>Note:</i> Youth may report more than one type of harassment. Percentages do not add up to 100%.			

Table 11. Reported Harassment at Pre-Survey and Post-Survey

CHARACTERISTICS OF YOUTH WITH MENTAL HEALTH AND SUICIDE IDEATION

The next several tables explore whether responses between youth participants who had thought of suicide or attempted suicide in the past year or reported poor mental health differed from those who had not considered or attempted suicide and reported good mental health.

Demographic characteristics of the youth who had mental health issues on the Pre-Survey can be found in Table 12. There was no difference by age. Those youth reporting mental health issues were roughly the same age as those not reporting any mental health issues. By gender, a higher proportion of youth reporting mental health issues was female compared to youth not reporting mental health issues; however, this was not a statistically significant difference.



	No mental health issues (<i>n</i> = 30)	Mental health issues (n = 17)
11-13 years of age	53%	59%
14-18 years of age	47%	41%
Age (average in years)	13.4	13.3
Male	57%	24%
Female	40%	71%
Other Gender	3%	6%

Table 12. Demographic Characteristics of Youth with Mental Health Issues (Pre-Survey)¹³

The scales were also examined by youth reporting mental health issues at Pre-Survey. Youth with mental health issues at Pre-Survey scored lower than their peers who did not report mental health issues in each of the protective factor scales. Three of these scales were statistically significant: youth who had mental health issues scored lower on the *Children's Hope*, ¹⁴ *School*, ¹⁵ and *Resilience* ¹⁶ scales.

	No mental health issues			Menta	al health is	sues
	Range	N	Mean	Range	N	Mean
Children's Hope Scale	1-6	30	4.4	1-6	18	3.7
Cultural Connection	1-4	30	3.3	1-4	17	3.6
Family	1-4	30	3.4	1-4	18	3.3
Community	1-4	30	2.9	1-4	18	2.9
School	1-4	30	3.1	1-4	18	2.6
Resilience	1 – 5	30	4.2	1 – 5	17	3.5

Table 13. Average Scale Scores at Pre-Survey by Mental Health Issues

Changes in each of the average (mean) scale scores from Pre-Survey to Post-Survey were compared between youth with mental health issues and those who did not report mental health issues. Those youth with mental health issues had greater average increases in the *Children's Hope, Cultural Connection, Community, School,* and *Resilience* scales than youth who reported no mental health issues. However, none of the differences were statistically



¹³ One youth reporting mental health issues did not report their age or gender.

 $^{^{14}}$ t(46) = 2.793, p < .01

 $^{^{15}}$ $t(46) = 2.909, \, p < .01$

 $^{^{16}}$ t(45) = 2.696, p < .01

significant. Table 14 shows the average increases in these scales between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey for youth reporting mental health issues and youth reporting no mental health issues.

		No mental health issues		Mental he	alth issues
	Range	N	Mean	Ν	Mean
Children's Hope Scale	1-6	30	0.04	18	0.27
Cultural Connection	1-4	30	-0.07	17	0.10
Family	1-4	19	-0.05	11	-0.06
Community	1-4	30	0.08	18	0.22
School	1-4	18	0.03	11	0.14
Resilience	1 – 5	29	0.02	17	0.07

Table 14. Average Scale Score Differences from Pre- to Post-Survey by Mental HealthIssues*

*Shaded measures indicate that these items were not included on the Intensive Post-Survey.

The health items were compared between youth who reporting having a mental health issue and those who reported no mental health issues to determine if these health measures were related to suicide ideation. Table 15 displays the previous health measures between these two groups of youth. Across all health outcomes, youth who did not report any mental health issues had better health ratings than youth who did report mental health issues; three of these measures were statistically significant. Youth who did not report mental health issues had more days eating breakfast during the previous week,¹⁷ higher physical health ratings,¹⁸ and higher mental health ratings¹⁹ than their peers who had reported mental health issues.

	No mental health issues (<i>n</i> = 30)	Mental health issues (n = 18)
Sleep (average hours per night)	7.4	6.9
Breakfast (number of days in past week)	5.4	3.0
Exercise (number of days in past week)	4.6	3.6
Physical Health	3.2	2.5
Mental Health	3.4	1.7

Table 15. Health Measures at Pre-Survey by Mental Health Issues

¹⁹ t(46) = 10.805, p < .001



 $^{^{17}}$ t(46) = 4.012, p < .001

 $^{^{18}}$ t(45) = 3.804, p < .001

Changes in these health measures from Pre-Survey to Post-Survey were compared between youth reporting mental health issues and youth not reporting any mental health issues. Table 16 displays the average increase between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey for these youth. Youth with mental health issues reported larger increases in the amount of sleep and frequency of eating breakfast, on average, compared to youth not reporting any mental health issues. Youth with mental health issues also had greater decreases in the average number of days with exercise in a week and overall physical health. Youth who reported having mental health issues reported an increase in their overall mental health from Pre-Survey to Post-Survey while youth without mental health issues had an average decrease; this difference was statistically significant.²⁰

	No mental health issues		ental health issues Mental healt	
	N	Mean	N	Mean
Sleep (average hours per night)	19	0.05	11	0.09
Breakfast (number of days in past week)	30	0.10	18	0.60
Exercise (number of days in past week)	19	0.52	11	-0.45
Physical Health	29	-0.14	18	-0.22
Mental Health	29	-0.24	18	0.61

Table 16. Average Health Differences from Pre- to Post-Survey by Mental Health Issues*

*Shaded measures indicate that these items were not included on the Intensive Post-Survey.

I just enjoyed having a nice safe cultural outlet. As well as learning and listening to some teachings from a skipper. ~ HOC Participant



19

 20 t(45) = 3.228, p < .01

Although a higher proportion of youth who reported mental health issues reported smoking cigarettes and using alcohol, non-prescription drugs, and other prescription drugs, the differences were not statistically significant (Table 17), likely due to the small sample sizes.

	No mental health issues (<i>n</i> = 30)	Mental health issues (n = 18)
Cigarettes	3%	6%
Alcohol	3%	11%
Marijuana	3%	6%
Non-prescription Drugs	3%	6%
Prescription Drugs (e.g., Vicodin, OxyContin, Xanax, Valium, Ritalin, Ambien)	7%	11%

Table 17. Substance Use at Pre-Survey by Mental Health Issues

Table 18 provides information about harassment in the past year for youth who reported mental health issues and those who reported no mental health issues. About two thirds (57%) of the youth who did not report any mental health issues reported they had not experienced any type of harassment compared to one-third (33%) of youth who reported mental health issues. In particular, youth with mental issues reported slightly greater levels of harassment for their race, sexual orientation, physical characteristics, and group of friends, than their peers who did not report mental health issues. Youth with mental health issues also had a slightly greater average number of harassment types than youth who did not report mental health issues were statistically significant.

	No mental health issues (<i>n</i> = 30)	Mental health issues (<i>n</i> = 18)
Race	17%	22%
Sexual Comment	20%	6%
Sexual Orientation	17%	22%
Physical Characteristics	27%	33%
Group of friends	10%	28%
Other	3%	0%
Number of types of harassment (average)	0.9	1.1
Not been harassed	57%	33%

Table 18. Reported Harassment at Pre-Survey by Mental Health Issues



The survey also asked youth about other risk factors, such as whether they had been electronically bullied in the past 12 months and whether they had been in a physical fight in the past 30 days, as well as lifetime physical abuse or forced sexual intercourse. Again, higher proportions of the youth who reported mental health issues also reported having experienced being electronically bulled or being in at least one physical fight within the past 12 months. Youth who reported mental health issues also reported to have sex in their life more often. None of the differences between youth with and without mental health issues were significantly different.

	No mental health issues (<i>n</i> = 30)	Mental health issues (n = 18)	
Have been electronically bullied past 12 months	17%	28%	
Have been in at least one physical fight in past 12 months	30%	44%	
Lifetime physical abuse*	40%	38%	
Lifetime forced to have sex*	4%	17%	
* The table reports the percentage of "yes" answers out of all "yes" and "no" responses. The third option "don't know/don't want to answer" is not included in this table (there were very few).			

Table 19. Other Risk Factors at Pre-Survey by Mental Health Issues

Changes in how confident or likely youth were to seek help for themselves or for friends or family members who were feeling depressed or suicidal were compared between youth with reported mental health issues and youth without reported mental health issues. These results are displayed in Table 20 below. For youth not reporting mental health issues, scores remained stable or showed slight increases from Pre-Survey to Post-Survey for all three survey questions. For youth who did report mental health issues, average scores decreased from Pre-Survey to Post-Survey. However, none of these differences were significant.

Table 20. Changes in Help Seeking from Pre- to Post-Survey by Mental Health Issues

	No mental health issues		Mental health issues	
	N	Mean	N	Mean
Do you feel confident that that you could help a friend or family member who is thinking about suicide?	28	0.0	17	-0.4
How likely would you be to seek help if you were feeling depressed or suicidal?	29	0.1	17	-0.1
How likely would you be to seek help for a friend who you thought might be depressed or suicidal?	30	0.1	17	-0.1



COMMUNITY-BASED VERSUS SCHOOL-BASED HOC CURRICULUM IMPLEMENTATION

Of the three sites, two elected to implement the HOC curriculum in a community-based setting. One of the sites implemented HOC over three weekends in the summer (spanning nearly 30 days). The other community-based curriculum site implemented HOC in two week-long sessions during the summer, one for middle school-aged youth and one for high school-aged youth. The long-term implementation site implemented HOC for middle school students in the tribal school over the spring semester.

Theoretically, differences in HOC outcomes by model type is a question of programmatic importance: Is it possible to get the same outcomes in different settings over a shorter period of time in the community versus in the school setting? Practically, however, there is good reason to believe the comparison of HOC program models will be misleading. This is because the differences among the two program models are likely due to a host of other factors unrelated to the duration of the HOC program. These factors include setting (single week and 3 weekends vs. once per week for several weeks), season (summer vs. school year), the number of HOC facilitators, types of youth (one of the community-based programs specifically recruited high-risk youth), youth age, fidelity to the HOC lessons (and/or length of time spent on each lesson), etc.

The three tables in this section show differences between program models at Pre-Survey highlighting the differences in the two groups of youth (community-based and school based). Table 21 reports demographic characteristics of the youth in the community-based (short-term) and school-based (long-term) HOC models. Neither gender nor age between program models was statistically significant.

	Community-Based (<i>n</i> = 30)	School-Based (n = 21)
Age		
Age (average in years)	13.6	13.1
Sex		
Male	45%	44%
Female	52%	50%
Other	3%	6%

Table 21. Demographic Characteristics of Youth by Program Model²¹

²¹ The sample size for **age** was n = 29 for community-based implementation and n = 17 for school-based implementation.



The protective factor scales were also examined by community- and school-based models on the Pre-Survey, as seen in Table 22. There were some differences among the scales by program model, and the School scale showed statistical significance between the two models: youth in the community-based (summer) programs scored higher on these scales than those in the school-based model.²² Because these differences were present at Pre-Survey, the difference is not likely to have anything to do with the community- or school-based programming. Instead, the difference is likely due to the school setting itself, the season, or the characteristics of the youths in each program.

		Community		School	
	Range	Ν	Mean	Ν	Mean
Children's Hope Scale	1-6	29	4.3	19	3.8
Cultural Connection	1-4	29	3.4	18	3.2
Family	1-4	29	3.4	19	3.1
Community	1-4	29	3.1	19	2.7
School	1-4	29	3.0	19	2.7
Resilience	1-5	29	4.1	18	3.8

Table 22. Average Scale Scores at Pre-Survey by Program Model

Table 23 below presents Pre- and Post-Survey outcome data by program model. The protective scale scores saw minimal gains for both models from Pre- to Post-Survey. However, the *Family* and *School* scales showed significantly different gains between the two program models; those in the school-based model had positive gains in these two scales while youth in the community-based model showed decreases in these scales.²³

		Community		School	
	Range	N	Mean	Ν	Mean
Children's Hope Scale	1-6	29	-0.05	19	0.38
Cultural Connection	1-4	29	0.01	18	-0.04
Family	1-4	11	-0.28	19	0.08
Community	1-4	29	0.12	19	0.16
School	1-4	10	-0.20	19	0.21
Resilience	1 – 5	29	0.02	17	0.07

Table 23. Average Scale Score Differences from Pre- to Post-Survey by Program Model*

*Shaded measures indicate that these items were not included on the Intensive Post-Survey.



 $^{^{22}}$ t(46) = 2.104, p < .05

²³ Family: t(28) = 2.330, p < .05

School: *t*(27) = 2.433, *p* < .05

Average (mean) scores on the Pre-Survey for questions asking youth how confident or likely they were to seek help for themselves or for friends or family feeling depressed or suicidal (displayed in Table 24) were compared between the community- and school-based program models. Youth in the school-based model had a slightly higher average score when asked how confident they were in helping a friend or family member thinking about suicide than youth in the community-based program model. However, youth in the community-based model had slightly higher average scores than youth in the school-based model when asked how likely they would be to seek help for themselves or for friends and family feeling depressed or suicidal. None of these differences were statistically significant.

	Community (<i>n</i> = 29)	School (<i>n</i> = 18)
Do you feel confident that that you could help a friend or family member who is thinking about suicide?	3.2	3.7
How likely would you be to seek help if you were feeling depressed or suicidal?	3.1	2.7
How likely would you be to seek help for a friend who you thought might be depressed or suicidal?	3.4	3.1

	Avorado Holr	Socking	Scoros at	Pro-Survov	by Program	Model
1 able 24.	Average nei	Jeeking	Scores a	t Fle-Sulvey	by Flogram	moue



Changes for these help seeking questions between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey were compared between youth participating in the community-based or school-based program models. The average changes in scores are displayed in Table 25. Youth in the community-based program model remained consistent between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey on all three questions. For youth participating in the school-based program model, average scores decreased when asked how confident they were that they could help a friend or family member thinking about suicide, but showed a small increase for the other two questions asking how likely they would be to seek help for themselves or a friend or family member who was feeling depressed or suicidal. The difference in the changes between Pre-Survey and Post-Survey was significant between the two program models for the question asking how confident youth were in helping a friend or family member thinking about suicide.²⁴ Changes on the other two questions asking how likely youth were to seek help for themselves or a friend or family member two questions asking how likely youth were to seek help for themselves or a friend or family member two questions asking how likely youth were to seek help for themselves or a friend or family member two questions asking how likely youth were to seek help for themselves or a friend or family member two questions asking how likely youth were to seek help for themselves or a friend or family member were not significantly different between the community- and school-based program models.

	Community		School	
	N	Mean	N	Mean
Do you feel confident that that you could help a friend or family member who is thinking about suicide?	27	0.1	18	-0.5
How likely would you be to seek help if you were feeling depressed or suicidal?	28	-0.1	18	0.2
How likely would you be to seek help for a friend who you thought might be depressed or suicidal?	29	0.0	18	0.1

Table 25. Changes i	n Help Seeking	g from Pre- to F	Post-Survey by	y Program Model



SUMMARY OF RESULTS

Youth participating in the HOC curriculum in three Northwest Tribal communities were asked to fill out Pre- and Post-Surveys to help understand their thoughts about themselves, their families, school, communities, behaviors, and past experiences. Survey respondents ranged in age from 11 to 18 years; the average was 13. All of the youth included in the analysis reported their race as American Indian or Alaskan Native (AI/AN) and 50% identified as female.

In this summary, we are reporting only on the statistically significant results from this evaluation.

Differences between the Pre- and Post-Survey found the following:

- Younger youth decreased in how confident they were to be able to help a friend or family member thinking about suicide, while older youth had a modest increase.
- Youth with mental health issues saw larger increases at the Post-Survey in five of the six protective factor scales (*Children's Hope, Cultural Connection, School, Community, and Resilience*).
- Youth in the community-based program model slightly increased between the Pre- and Post-Surveys on how confident they were to seek help for a friend or family member feeling suicidal while youth in the school-based program model decreased.
- Youth in the school-based program had more gains in the *Family* and *School* scales than youth in community-based programs.

At Pre-Survey, several characteristics were statistically linked to mental health issues in youth:

- The *Children's Hope, School,* and *Resilience* scales were statistically linked to suicidal thoughts and behaviors at the Pre-Survey, with youth reporting mental health issues having lower scores on these scales.
- Youth with mental health issues, on average, ate breakfast on two fewer days per week and reported lower ratings of physical health and mental health than youth without mental health issues.
- Youth with mental health issues increased in overall mental health from Pre-Survey to Post-Survey while youth without mental health issues decreased in overall mental health during the same time period.
- Youth with mental health issues were more likely to say they had been forced to have sex in their lifetime (22%) than their peers without any reported mental health issues (3%) and to have been bullied.



Although we do not have a comparison group of youth *not* receiving the HOC curriculum, we are particularly interested in any evidence, however tentative, about the impact of the HOC implementation on participating youth. Youth with mental health issues had statistically significant increases in their self-reported mental heath from Pre- to Post-Survey, which may indicate this curriculum is appropriate for youth facing mental health challenges. The decreases in self-reported mental health ratings for youth *without* mental health indicators at the Pre-Survey also could indicate that they were reporting their mental health concerns more honestly or completely at the Post-Survey. The results of this evaluation also indicate that the suicide prevention-related components of this curriculum might be more appropriate for older youth, since they had significant increases in confidence that they could help suicidal friends or family members, compared to younger youth.



REFERENCES

- Donovan, D. M., Thomas, L. R., Sigo, R. L. W., Price, L., Lonczak, H., Lawrence, N., ... Bagley, L. (2015). Healing of the Canoe: Preliminary Results of a Culturally Tailored Intervention to Prevent Substance Abuse and Promote Tribal Identity for Native Youth in Two Pacific Northwest Tribes, *American Indian and Alaska Native Mental Health Research* (Online), 22(1), 42–76. http://dx.doi.org/10.5820/aian.2201.2015.42
- Mackin, J. R., Perkins, T., Tarte, J. M., with Dent, C. (April 2010). "Life is Sacred Program Enhanced Evaluation: Oregon Native Youth Survey Data Multi-Tribal Community Report."
 Prepared for the Centers for Disease Control and Prevention and the Substance Abuse and Mental Health Services Administration.
- Nationwide Children's Hospital. Sleep in Adolescents (13-18 Years). (n.d.). Retrieved February 24, 2017, from http://www.nationwidechildrens.org/sleep-in-adolescents
- Liebenberg, L., Ungar, M., & LeBlanc, J. C. (2013). The CYRM-12: a brief measure of resilience. Canadian journal of public health = Revue canadienne de sante publique, 104(2), e131– e135. https://doi.org/10.1007/BF03405676
- Snyder, C. R., Hoza, B., Pelham, W. E., Rapoff, M., Ware, L., Danovsky, M., ... Stahl, K. J. (1997).
 The development and validation of the Children's Hope Scale. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, 23(3), 399–421. doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/22.3.399

